
 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 
If calling please ask for: 
 
Tracey Guinea on 033 022 28679 
Email:  tracey.guinea@westsussex.gov.uk 
 
www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 
West Sussex 
PO19 1RQ 
Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 
 

 
25 May 2023 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 
A meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Tuesday, 6 June 2023 
at County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 
address: 

 
http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 
 

 
 Agenda 

 
1. Declarations of Interest   

 
Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal interest in any 
business on the agenda. They should also make declarations at any stage such 
an interest becomes apparent during the meeting. Consideration should be 
given to leaving the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it. If in doubt, 
contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 
 

2. Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
The Committee is asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 
7 February 2023 
 

3. Urgent Matters   
 
Items not on the agenda that the Chairman of the Committee is of the opinion 
should be considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances. 
 

4. Definitive Map Modification Order  (Pages 9 - 36) 
 
Report by the Director of Law and Assurance. 
  
The Committee is asked to consider and determine the following application: 
  
DMMO 8/21 – Definitive Map Modification Order to add to the Definitive 
Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural a footpath from the southern 
end of footpath 11Ar to footpath 25ar near Stone Barn Cottages, in the 
Parish of Ardingly 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 
5. Public Rights of Way Annual Progress Report 2022  (Pages 37 - 40) 

 
Report by the Principal Rights of Way Officer. 
  
The Committee is asked to note the following report:  
  
Public Rights Of Way Annual Progress Report 2022 
 

6. Date of Next Meeting   
 
The next meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Tuesday, 
27 June 2023 at County Hall, Chichester. Planned agenda items to be advised 
in due course. 
 

 
 
 
To all members of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 
 
 

Webcasting 
 

Please note: this meeting is being filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
County Council’s website on the internet. The images and sound recording may be 
used for training purposes by the Council. 
 
Generally the public gallery is not filmed. However, by entering the meeting room and 
using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible 
use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 

 

Page 2



Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
 
7 February 2023 – At a meeting of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
held at 10.30 am at County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 
Present: Cllr Burrett (Chairman) 
 
Cllr Ali, Cllr Duncton, Cllr Gibson, Cllr Joy, Cllr Montyn, Cllr Oakley, Cllr Patel, 
Cllr Quinn and Cllr Wild 
 
Apologies were received from Cllr Atkins and Cllr McDonald 
 

 
Part I 

  
25.    Declarations of Interest  

 
25.1    No declarations of interest were made. 
 

26.    Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  
 

26.1  In reference to part (a) of the planning permission for Planning 
Application WSCC/015/22, an update was requested regarding which 
authority has responsibility for heat dissipation as noted in Minute 23.8 of 
the minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee 
of 10 January 2023.  The Committee was advised that enquiries are being 
undertaken by Planning Officers and the Committee will be provided with 
an update as soon as possible. 
 
26.2 Resolved – That the minutes of the Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee held on 10 January 2023 be approved and that they be signed 
by the Chairman. 
  

27.    Urgent Matters  
 

27.1   There were no urgent matters. 
  

28.    Definitive Map Modification Order  
 

DMMO 10/20 – Definitive Map Modification Order application to 
add a restricted byway to the Definitive Map and Statement for 
Cuckfield Rural linking Birchgrove Lane and School Lane in the 
parish of Horsted Keynes 
  
28.1 The Committee considered a report by the Director of Law and 
Assurance.  The report was introduced by Georgia Hickland, Chartered 
Legal Executive, who outlined the application and the key points. 
 
28.2 Mr Chris Smith, representing the Open Spaces Society, the 
applicant, spoke in support of the application.  Historical evidence is 
important because common law provides that once a route is a public 
highway - including public footpaths and bridleways - it remains a highway 
forever, unless there is a Court or other Order stopping it up or diverting 
it, and no evidence has been found or provided that this has occurred for 
this route.  The historical evidence for this route is very strong.  Land 
shown in white on the Inland Revenue Finance Act 1910 map was exempt 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



from tax and was mainly owned by a rating authority.  Where a white road 
joins others, which is the case with this route, it is almost certainly owned 
by a highway authority with public rights of access because otherwise 
there would be no reason for a local authority to own it. The 1930s 
Handover map shows the application route as a highway that was publicly 
maintainable.  This map, which was provided by East Grinstead Rural 
District Council to the County Council, was used to identify the 
responsibility for maintained public highways; the application route is 
shown on the map.  It would have been scrupulously checked at the time.  
No opposing historic evidence has been submitted.  It is only necessary, at 
this stage, to show that someone could reasonably argue that the route is 
a right of way.  R v Secretary of State for the Environment ex parte Riley 
[1989] stated that an Order must be made if a reasonable person, having 
considered all the relevant evidence, could reasonably allege a right of 
way subsisted. 
 
28.3 During the debate the Committee raised the points below and a 
response or clarification was provided by Legal Officers where applicable, 
as follows: 
  

State of the proposed route 
  
Point raised – The proposed route is through woodland, leading to 
an old house that was once a school.  Part of the route can be 
accessed, although with difficulty, and it is very muddy.  In its 
current state it is not suitable for a byway.  All it does is cut off a 
corner where two other paths join.  It would require a certain 
amount of work to bring the route back into use. 
  
Response – Concerns regarding the state of the path cannot be 
taken into account when determining the application.  Should the 
application be approved and the Order confirmed the County Council 
would then be responsible for restoring the route to a passable 
condition and thence maintaining it. 
  
Definition of a restricted byway 
  
Points raised – Clarification was sought regarding the definition of 
a restricted byway and who can use such a route. 
  
Response –A restricted byway is a highway over which the public 
have a right of way on foot, on horseback or leading a horse, with 
or without a right to drive animals and in a vehicle other than a 
mechanically propelled vehicle, thereby giving a right of way for 
pedal cyclists and drivers of horse drawn vehicles.  
  
Historical evidence 
  
Points raised – All the historical evidence is comprehensive and 
clear.  Of particular note is the Handover map, which is interesting 
and significant.  It was noted that no evidence of use had been 
submitted. 
  
Response – The application is based on archive evidence only. 

  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



28.4 The substantive recommendation was proposed by Cllr Montyn and 
seconded by Cllr Ali, and voted on by the Committee and approved by a 
majority. 
  
28.5 Resolved:- 
  

That a Definitive Map Modification Order, under Section 53(2) in 
consequence of an event specified in Sub-Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a restricted byway to the 
Definitive Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural between School 
Lane and Birchgrove Lane be made. 
 

28.6 The Committee recessed at 10.54 am to await the advertised start 
time of the Agenda Item 5. 
 
28.7 The Committee reconvened at 11.48 am. 
 

29.    Definitive Map Modification Order  
 

DMMO 4/20 – Definitive Map Modification Order application to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement for Chanctonbury to add 
a footpath from Coombe Drove, Bramber to Bostal Road, Steyning 
in the parishes of Bramber and Steyning 
  
29.1 The Committee considered a report by the Director of Law and 
Assurance.  The report was introduced by Naomi Taite, Legal Assistant, 
who outlined the application and the key points. 
 
29.2 A statement in objection to the application was read out by the 
Clerk to the Committee on behalf of Mr Thomas and Mrs Christine Harding, 
owners of Penland Cottage and, since 2008, landowners of approximately 
8 yards of the proposed route.  The other part of the route is unregistered.  
Good relations have been maintained with users of the cut-through 
running alongside the garden of Penland Cottage, but during 2020 the 
Hardings experienced problems with people lingering on the footpath.  On 
the advice of the Police they erected a Permissive Footpath sign to deter 
loitering.  Users felt that this might be an indication that the path would be 
closed, which has never been the case.  It provides a safe, short route 
from Coombe Drove to Steyning and is well used by the elderly, young 
and families with prams.  The Hardings would like the route to remain 
open and wish to work with West Sussex County Council to explore ways 
to keep the current line of the path either through a dedication or a 
diversion under the Highways Act 1980.  The original line of the route as 
defined by the DMMO application evidence would not be acceptable under 
any circumstances because it would run through the garden of Penland 
Cottage and have a significant impact on the Hardings’ security, young 
family and quality of life. 
 
29.3 Mr Charles Ashby, representing members of the public and users of 
the proposed route, spoke in support of the application.  Members of the 
Committee were referred to the plan on page 45, Appendix 2a, of the 
Committee report.  The plan was made in 1963 at the time that 
Chanctonbury Rural District Council approved the planning application for 
the Coombe Drove estate.  It shows the original path, which was kept for 
residents’ access.  The County Council was asked to adopt the route but 
refused.  However, it insisted the route should not be used for vehicular 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



access and a brick barrier had to be erected at the Coombe Drove end, 
which got knocked over in the 1970s and was rebuilt using public 
donations.  The original route was well used.  A large amount of evidence, 
demonstrating regular, uninterrupted use during the period 1976 to 1996, 
has been provided including from people of standing within the 
community.  Mr Ashby has used the path for over 47 years.  The previous 
owners of Penland Cottage annexed most of the original route into their 
garden (which was stated as taking place in 1966), leaving the current 
narrow route.  Bramber Parish Council laid the tarmac as a one-off 
gesture.  Members were referred to page 46, Appendix 2b and it was 
pointed out that the current path is very narrow, has two blind bends and 
a high fence.  It is very difficult for those with pushchairs or wheelchairs to 
pass, and many women do not feel safe using it at night, forcing the most 
vulnerable to use a more dangerous route.  The original route was 10ft 
wide, lit at both ends and available for all to use.  The legal tests have 
been satisfied. 
 
29.4 Legal officers clarified that part of the original route was enclosed in 
the garden of Penland Cottage in 1996, not 1966 as stated by Mr Ashby.  
 
29.5 During the debate the Committee raised the points below and a 
response or clarification was provided by Legal Officers and the Chairman 
where applicable, as follows: 
  

Landowner Deposits 
  
Point raised – A general explanation of Landowner Deposits was 
requested.  It was noted that a 2009 Landowner Deposit was made, 
but it was not followed up with a Statutory Declaration.  Would the 
earlier Landowner Deposit of 1996, which was extended by a 
Statutory Declaration, have had an expiry date in 2016?   
  
Response – Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 allows for 
landowners to deposit a map with the County Council showing the 
routes that they accept there is a right of way over and/or those 
that they do not.  Whilst in place these Landowner Deposits prevent 
claims of rights of access, meaning that use cannot be shown to be 
“as of right”.  During the time period in question for this DMMO 
application, a Landowner Deposit lasted for 10 years (these now last 
for 20 years).  If renewed within that period by way of Statutory 
Declaration, they could then last for a further 10 years.  The 
previous owners’ Landowner Deposit means the “use as of right and 
without interruption” effectively dates back to the 20 years 
preceding 1996.  Landowner Deposits are personal and do not run 
with the land, meaning the Deposit made by the previous owners of 
Penland Cottage was not transferrable to Mr and Mrs Harding. 
 
Legal Tests 
 
Points raised – DMMO applications must be made on the legal 
tests.  The evidence of use between 1976 and 1996 is quite clear.  
The principle of “once a highway always a highway” is met. 
 
Response – None required. 

  

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



Original route - width 
  
Points raised – Noting that Appendix 2a of the Committee report 
shows the plan provided at the time that Chanctonbury Rural 
District Council considered the application for the Coombe Drove 
estate, how was the definitive line of the proposed route arrived at, 
and what evidence supports the basis for the route to be 10ft wide? 
  
Response – Many members of the public who provided evidence of 
use claimed the width of the original route to be 10ft.  Some also 
provided documents and plans including the plan at Appendix 2a, 
which was the most useful.  A document, provided to the County 
Council by the previous owner at the time of the enclosure of the 
garden at Penland Cottage, shows the original route.  Should the 
Order be approved a width would need to be specified in the Order 
and a width of 10ft is supported by the evidence. 
 
Original route – prevention of vehicular access 
 
Points raised – What were the implications of the brick wall in 
terms of prevention of access and the original route’s status?  The 
existence of the brick wall appears to indicate the original route was 
for pedestrian use only.  Should the application be approved with a 
route width of 10ft, then some form of obstruction may be required 
to prevent vehicular access including cyclists. 
  
Response – There was no conclusive evidence as to when the brick 
barrier was removed but it is speculated that this occurred when the 
current path was put in place and because it is narrow it was not 
needed because the width does not support vehicular access.  
Should the Order be approved the County Council would not now 
require such a feature and would usually rely on signage. 
 
Original route – line of the route, ownership of the land and 
practicalities going forward 
 
Points raised – Confirmation was sought that the line of the 
original route now goes through a garden.   If the original route 
were required to be reopened through the garden of Penland 
Cottage, would the owners lose part of their garden and what 
happens to the existing land of the current route? 
 
Response – Part of the original route is now enclosed within the 
garden of Penland Cottage.  The application was made for the line of 
the current footpath; however, the evidence, including the Section 
31(6) Landowner Deposits, only supports the existence of the 
original line of the route, not the current line. DMMO applications 
are a two-stage process.  Where the County Council decides that an 
Order should “be made”, objections may be received.  Then, as an 
opposed Order, it must be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate 
for consideration as to whether it meets the legal tests for 
confirmation.  The current path would remain at least until the 
Planning Inspectorate were to confirm the Order and only then 
would the County Council consider the practicalities for reinstating 
the original line of the route, as per the confirmed Order.  If the 
Order were to be confirmed it would be shown on the Definitive Map 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



as going through a garden.  However, the Committee was advised 
that it cannot take the future of the route into account in 
determining whether or not the Order subsists, as per the legal 
tests. 
 
Possible Diversion of the route 
 
Points raised – Would any application for a Diversion by the 
owners of Penland Cottage need to wait until the Order is confirmed 
or not by the Planning Inspectorate?  If an application were to be 
made to divert the route, then would any actions to reinstate the 
original line of the route be put on hold until such time as the 
Diversion Order is determined? 
 
Response – An application for a Diversion Order under Section 119 
of the Highways Act 1980 could only be made once the route is 
confirmed on the original line.  Diversion applications to the County 
Council are currently closed but due to reopen very shortly.  Any 
application would need to take its turn along with any other 
Diversion Order applications.  It is not likely that there would be any 
enforcement action taken to open up the original route, particularly 
where an alternative is available and in use, whilst a Diversion 
Order application is waiting to be determined, but this would be an 
operational decision for the Public Rights of Way Team at the 
County Council. 

  
29.6 The substantive recommendation was proposed by Cllr Oakley and 
seconded by Cllr Montyn, and voted on by the Committee and approved 
by a majority. 
  
29.7 Resolved:- 
  

That a Definitive Map Modification Order under Section 53 (2) in 
consequence of an event specified in Sub-Section 53 (3)(c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a footpath to the Definitive 
Map and Statement for Chanctonbury from Coombe Drove, Bramber 
to Bostal Road, Steyning be made. 

  
30.    Date of Next Meeting  

 
30.1   The next scheduled meeting of the Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee will be on Tuesday, 28 February 2023 at 10.30 am. 
 

The meeting ended at 12.24 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



Key decision: Not applicable 
Unrestricted 

 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee 

6 June 2023 

DMMO 8/21 – Definitive Map Modification Order to add to the Definitive 
Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural a footpath from the southern end 
of footpath 11Ar to footpath 25ar near Stone Barn Cottages, in the 
Parish of Ardingly  

Report by Director of Law and Assurance 

Electoral division: Worth Forest        Local Member: Bruce Forbes 
 

Summary 

The application has been submitted by the Open Spaces Society and seeks to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural by adding a 
footpath from the southern end of public footpath 11Ar to footpath 25Ar near 
Stone Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly. The application is based on 
archive evidence only. 

Recommendation 

That a Definitive Map Modification Order, under Section 53 (2) in consequence of 
an event specified in sub-section 53 (3) (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, to add a footpath from the southern end of public footpath 11Ar to 
footpath 25Ar near Stone Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly be made. 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The application has been submitted by the Open Spaces Society and 
seeks to modify the Definitive Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural by 
adding a footpath from the southern end of public footpath 11Ar to 
footpath 25Ar near Stone Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly. 

1.2 The application is based on archive evidence only.  

1.3 The application is made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (WCA), being the discovery, by the County Council 
of evidence which shows that a right of way which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist 
over land. 

1.4 The claimed route begins at Stone Barn Cottages off footpath 25Ar and 
then continues in a northerly direction passing through an old railway 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



bridge to join footpath 11Ar in the parish of Ardingly as shown on the 
attached site plan 01821 marked points A to B. 

2. Land ownership 

2.1 The landowner of the land over which most of the claimed route passes 
is Ann Grovesnor Knowles under title number WSX287170.  

2.2 The landowner of the northern end of the claimed route where the 
claimed route meets footpath 11Ar is the Bluebell Railway Plc under title 
number WSX235678 

3. Background  

3.1 The claimed route is included on the Cuckfield Rural District Definitive 
Map area. This fell within East Sussex County Council (ESCC) until 1974 
when the County boundaries were amended and Cuckfield Rural then 
became part of West Sussex County Council.  

 
3.2 A Permissive Path agreement between Mrs A Knowles of Burstye Farm 

and the County Council goes from footpath 25Ar to the west of the 
claimed route heading in a north easterly direction until meeting the old 
railway and following this to meet public footpath 11Ar on the northern 
side of the railway bridge.  

4. Consultations 

Standard consultations were sent to the amenity groups, the District 
and Parish Councils and local member.  The following comments were 
received: 

3.1 Bruce Forbes, local member for Worth Forest  

Mr Forbes stated he fully supported the application.  

3.2 Mid Sussex District Council  

Have no objections to the proposal  

5. Evidence submitted in support of the application 

The applicant’s submission can be read in full at Background Paper C. 
The application is based on archive evidence only. The applicant asserts, 
taken as a whole, the historic evidence presented demonstrates the 
existence of a highway over many years. The applicant asserts the 
application passes both the reasonable allegation test and the balance of 
probability test. A summary of the evidence considered by the applicant 
is presented below.  

5.1 First Edition of the Ordnance Survey Map 25 

The applicant asserts that claimed route is shown from Burstye Farm to 
today’s public footpath 11Ar denoted by a double dashed line. The 
railway has not yet been built. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



Officer comment: It is agreed that the claimed route is shown on the 
Ordnance Survey map.  

5.2 Railway records, plan 1877 and book of reference QDP/428/1 and 
QDP/428/2 

The application states that the claimed route is shown below the 
proposed railway line and footpath 11Ar is also shown. Similarly, to the 
first edition of the Ordnance Survey map, a route is shown branching to 
the left. The claimed route goes through parcels 44 and 45. The 
applicant states the book of reference describes parcel 44 as a “field and 
footpath” and 45 as “field, stream, occupation road and footpath”. 

The applicant contends that of the nearby land parcels, as only parcel 44 
and 45 have footpaths through them it is likely that the claimed route 
and path 11Ar is the footpath referred to in the book of reference. The 
occupation road is likely to be the route to the right passing through 
parcel 45 and 49 as both have occupation roads in the book of reference.  

Officer comment: It is agreed the claimed route is shown on the 
railway plan. However, it is not possible to determine conclusively that 
this is the footpath referred to in the book of reference.  

5.3 Finance Act Maps IR124/1/44 and IR124/1/61 National Archives 

The applicant states that this evidence shows there are 3 rights of way in 
the hereditament (no. 36) and suggests these are the claimed route and 
part of today’s public footpath 11Ar, the path to Avins Farm (todays 
public footpath 25Ar) and the path going off to the north-east (todays 
public footpath 17AR).  

Officer comment: It is agreed that the claimed route is shown on the 
map denoted by double dashed lines and the other two routes follow the 
same course as today’s public footpaths 17Ar and 25Ar. 

5.4 Finance Act Field books IR58/40184  

The field book states that there was a bridleway and two paths in the 
hereditament (No.36) for which a reduction of £50 is awarded. The 
applicant suggests that it is likely the bridleway went from one road to 
another and so may have extended from Avins Farm. The applicant 
suggests that the claimed route is one of the footpaths for which a 
deduction is claimed in the hereditament 

Officer comment: It is agreed that a deduction of £50 is awarded for a 
bridleway and a path, however, as the finance maps are not annotated it 
is not possible to be certain one of these paths was the claimed route, 
although it is possible.  

5.5 Rights of way Act 1932 Survey and First Definitive Map (C/C 11/5/105) 

The applicant presents evidence from East Sussex Rights of Way Sub-
Committee relating to the creation of the first Definitive Map on the 
23/11/1954. The minutes indicate that an extension of path 11Ar, path 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



11c, was shown on the Cuckfield R. D 1935 map. It is stated in the 
minutes that 

“the Draft map shows a public footpath from Stone Barn Cottages 
northwards under the railway line to join path Ardingly 14 in the east of 
Ardingly Cottage”.  

It is also stated in the minutes that the landowner north of the railway 
admits to a public right of way but the Railway deposited plans do not. 
The minutes go on to indicate that the railway company believed it would 
be “ultra vires” for them to show the footpath on their plans and would 
have prevented them filling in the space under the bridge. The 
committee go on to outline that there is a locked gate under the railway 
bridge and the path is obstructed.   

The applicant outlines that the minutes show that the committee 
recommended for the path to be deleted from the draft map.  The 
applicant contends this decision by East Sussex County Council likely 
overlooked other evidence mentioned above and took the Railway 
Board’s word for it. 

Officer comment: The minutes state, as outlined by the applicant, that 
the committee recommended path 11c was deleted form the draft map. 
The reasoning from this evidence appears to be because of the objection 
from the Transport Commission and the fact the route is obstructed.    

6. Evidence submitted against the application 

6.1 Objection from Mrs AG. Knowles and Bluebell Railway Plc 16 Feb 2023 
(referred to throughout the report as “the Bluebell Railway Objection”) 
(Background Paper D) 

6.1.1 Mrs Knowles and the Bluebell Railway are not stating the claimed route 
did not exist but they claim that the route shown was used by those 
farming Burstye to access the lower fields and woodland to the north of 
the railway and does not have public rights as a footpath.  The full 
objection can be read under Background paper D, below is a short 
summary of the objection. 

6.1.2 Ordnance Survey Maps. It is considered the Ordnance Survey maps do 
not present evidence to indicate the route was public.  

6.1.3 Deposited Plans and Book of reference. The Bluebell Railway Objection 
states that they do not agree with the interpretation that the absence of 
the Surveyor of Highways in the ownership column was an error. They 
believe the information in the book of reference is correct and the status 
of the route beneath the railway bridge is accurately recorded as private.  

6.1.4 It is highlighted that a Conveyance dated 7 May 1883 records the 
construction of the bridge for the benefit of the adjoining owners “An 
occupation bridge under the railway at or near point C on the plan” 
thereby indicating its private status.  

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



6.1.5 Finance Act 1910. It is not considered the Finance Field Books can be 
considered as proof of the claimed route being a public right of way as 
the term “Public rights of Way or User” in field books did not distinguish 
between private rights of way and public rights of way.  

6.2 Martin & Anna Collins, 3  Stonebarn Cottages, Burstye Farm, Ardingly 
Road, Lindfield, West Sussex- adjacent Land Owner,24th March 2023 
(Background Paper E) 

6.2.1 The full objection can be seen under Background paper E, a brief 
summary is provided below. 

6.2.2 Mr and Mrs Collins state they have lived in their property since 1985 and 
have never been aware of a footpath along the claimed route, they are 
only aware of a permissive path being in place. They also state general 
objection due to disturbance of wildlife and proximity to their property 
and resultant infrastructure required to secure their property as a result. 
Mr and Mrs Collins also indicate that they believe the applicant has 
mistakenly referred to Hobhouse Farm as they are not aware of any such 
named farm. 

6.3 Report by Routewise Consulting on behalf of Warners Solicitors acting on 
behalf of Mrs Anne Knowles, April 2023 (referred to throughout as “the 
Routewise Report”) (Background Paper F) 

6.3.1 An objection was received in April 2023 in the form of a report by 
Routewise Consulting on behalf of Warners Solicitors acting for Mrs Anne 
Knowles. The report can be seen in full at Background Paper F and a 
summary is provided in the Annex to this report.  

6.3.2 The Routewise Report states that Mrs Knowles has owned the land since 
1957 and has carried out research on the history of the farm concluding 
that the claimed route is an occupation road to the farm bringing harvest 
from the north of the farm to the old tithe barn that was located on the 
site of Stone Barn Cottages.  

6.3.3 The Railway documents: the documents considered Lewes and East 
Grinstead Railway Documents 1877; Lewes and East Grinstead Railway 
Act 1977; Railway Clauses Consolidation 1845 (para 20- 40 of the 
Routewise Report).  

6.3.4 The Routewise Report outlines that the bridge measures at 12 feet on a 
recent site visit. It is contended that under the Railway Clauses 
Consolidation Act 1985 private roads were to be a width of 12 feet.  

6.3.5 The Routewise Report contends that in the 1877 Book of Reference 
(document 4 of the Routewise Report appendices) the claimed route had 
William Jolland listed as the owner rather than the Surveyor of Highways 
indicating that the route was private and not public.  

6.3.6 The Routewise Report agrees that Parcel 45 is described as “Field, 
Stream, occupation road and footpath” in the book of reference and 
several routes are shown crossing the parcel on the railway plans. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



However, the Routewise Report states that it is not possible to determine 
the status of the claimed route from the plans and reference book.  

6.3.7 Conveyance of land from Lt. Col. Sampson to the Railway Company 1883 
(para 32 of the Routewise Report) 

6.3.8 The Routewise Report states that Parcel 45 which is conveyed describes 
a “Field, Stream, Occupation Road and Footpath”, it is stated that a 
bridge is also mentioned but described as “an Occupation Bridge under 
the Railway at or near the point marked C on the said plan”. 

6.3.9 Ordnance Survey Plans (para 41-49 of the Routewise Report) 

6.3.10 The Routewise Report does not contend that a route has not been shown 
along the claimed route stating the route is shown between 1874 and 
1959 on Ordnance Survey maps. The Ordnance Survey 1959 denotes the 
claimed route as “F.P.”.  The 1963 Map labels the claimed route as a 
track.  However, it is contended that due to the Ordnance Survey 
disclaimer the plans do not provide supporting evidence that the route 
was a public footpath. It is also stated that the first date that the claimed 
route was labelled as “FP” was after the County Council’s Sub- 
Committee decided to delete the footpath from the Definitive Map. 

6.3.11 Lease 1894 between Lt.Col.Dudley Thomas Heatley Sampson of 
Buxshalls and Mathew Madge for Avens Farm (Document 8 and para 50-
53 of the Routewise Report). 

6.3.12 The Routewise Report states that the lease indicates that the landowner 
(the Sampsons) did not consider the route from Burstye to Avins Farm to 
be a public highway as the Lessors reserved a right of way from the 
Lindfield or Ardingly road through or over the meadow adjoining the road 
on the east. It is stated that this indicates that they did not consider the 
claimed route as a public highway as they required to reserve another 
access from the tenanted land to the Ardingly road.   

6.3.13 Finance Act 1910 - Plans - IR 124/1/44 (OS Sussex sheet XV.15); IR 
124/1/61 (OS Sussex sheet XXVI.3) Field Books - IR 58/40184; IR 
58/40185 and IR 58/40186 (Para 54-66) 

6.3.14 The Routewise Report accepts that there is evidence two footpaths and a 
bridleway were claimed by the public across Burstye Farm but contends 
that reference automatically meant the claim was accepted and 
warranted a reduction. It is also contended that the exact location of 
these routes cannot be identified and therefore nor can the reduction 
granted or the status of the claimed route be confirmed.  

6.3.15 The Definitive Map Process West Sussex Record Office Ref: Draft Map - 
AM 796/9/1WA 218; Revised Draft Map - AM 796/9/10; Provisional Map - 
AM 796/9/2 First Definitive Map - AM 796/9/3 (Para 67-78 of the 
Routewise Report) 

6.3.16 The Routewise Report outlines that the claimed route was added to the 
Draft Definitive Map for Cuckfield Rural District 1935 and statement but 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



then deleted from the provisional Definitive Map for Cuckfield Rural 
District after an objection from the British Transport Commission (BTC) 
was considered by the East Sussex Rights of way sub-committee. The 
Maps held in the West Sussex Records Office support this. 

6.3.17 Conclusion – The Routewise report concludes that there is clear evidence 
a track has existed for 150 years along the line of the claimed route. It is 
contended that there is no clear evidence that the claimed route has ever 
had public rights and from the evidence it could not be concluded as such 
on the balance of probability. The Routewise Report concludes that from 
the evidence the route existed as farm access.   

7. Archive evidence considered by the County Council  

The County Council have considered the historical records presented by 
the applicant and objectors as well as relevant records held at the West 
Sussex records Office and East Sussex Records Office. Below is a 
summary of the findings in alphabetical order. 

7.1 Conveyance of land from Lt. Col. Sampson to the Railway Company 7th 
May 1883 (para 32 of the Routewise Report and page 5-6 of the Bluebell 
Railways Objection) 

7.1.1 The images of the conveyance provided are difficult to read, however, 
the plan does appear to show the claimed route where it passes under 
the railway bridge marked “C”. 

7.1.2 The Bluebell Railway Objection and the Routewise Report state that the 
above-mentioned title deed states the bridge under the proposed 
railway, where the claimed route terminates, is recorded as being 
constructed for the benefit of the owner “an occupation bridge under the 
railway near point C on the plan”. This conveyance is also referred to in 
East Sussex County Council’s minutes (see para 7.1.14 below). 

7.1.3 The parcel of land conveyed to the railway company is described as 
“Field, Stream, Occupation road and footpath”. This is consistent with the 
description in the railway plans book of reference 

7.1.4 However, the conveyance was dealing with private rights of property. A 
transfer of a private right does not mean there can be no public right 
(Planning Inspectorate Consistency Guidelines). 

7.1.5 Therefore, while these records indicate the claimed route was used as an 
occupation road it does not mean the occupation road could not also 
have had rights on foot as a public footpath. There is mention of a 
footpath in the conveyance as the parcel of land is described as “Field 
stream occupation road and footpath” but the location of the footpath is 
not made clear, therefore the conveyance does not provide conclusive 
evidence either way. 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



7.1.6 County Council Records, West Sussex County Council and East Sussex 
County Council (Background Paper G) 

7.1.7 Ardingly Parish File West Sussex County Council  

7.1.8 There are several letters on the parish file concerning the claimed route 
from 1929 to 1997. 

7.1.9 In 1929 the claimed route is described on a document describing 
Ardingly’s footpaths signed by the chairman of the Parish Council. The 
path is described as a continuation of path 11 “Upper Lodge 
Carriageway. Turn into fields on the left by Culpepers’ sheds. Leads to 
Burstye crossed by numbers 14,19,22 and 23”.  

7.1.10 In 1985 there are a series of letters between WSCC and Ardingly Parish 
Council as the Parish Council expresses a wish to claim an extension of 
footpath 11, which is the claimed route.  

7.1.11 The claimed route is then brought up again in 1992 as Mid Sussex 
District Council proposes reinstatement of the path having included the 
proposed reinstatement of the footpath in their draft local plan. WSCC 
explain the various options to add the route to the Definitive Map. 

7.1.12 On 29 September 1992 Ardingly Parish Council provide evidence for the 
reinstatement of the claimed route which includes letters from local 
groups as well as an extract from the Parish Council minute book 1927-
57. The main points of interest from the Parish Council minute book are 
summarised below; 

• There are various entries in the minute book from 1929 to 1942 
discussing maintenance of a footpath leading to Burstye such as 
requiring a hedge to be trimmed and the installation of a finger 
post. 

• On 21 November 1955 it is stated that the Clerk objected to 
deletion of the footpath from Upper Lodge leading to Burstye as 
shown in the deposited map at the post office and schedule in MS 
Times 2 Nov 1995. This would have been the Draft Definitive Map 
described at para 7.2. 

• The entry on 19 March 1956 describes the outcome of an enquiry 
into the deletion of the path held on 15 Feb 1956   

“evidence was given of the use of this path to and from Burstye 
Farm to Ardingly for many years. The Railway Co. produced 
evidence that Creep Bridge was built for the convenience of the 
owner of the land through which the Railway was built when it cut 
the land in two. A Letter dated 14 March was produced by which it 
appeared the East Sussex County Council had decided to delete 
Ardingly 11C from their map. After full discussion it was proposed 
by Mr. Burcher. Sec. by Mr. Wallis and carried that the County 
Council’s ruling be accepted.” 

  

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



7.1.13 East Sussex Records Office  

7.1.14 Committee Minutes – East Sussex Rights of Way Sub-Committee Meeting 
date 23/11/54. East Sussex Records Office C/C 11/5/105 (Background 
paper G and applicant’s statement pg 18-19). 

7.1.15 The minutes outline that the railway bridge was provided in accordance 
with the terms of the Conveyance under which the railway company 
acquired the land from Colonel Sampson in 1883. The Railway Company 
object to the footpath as they state the path was not indicated on the 
railway plans deposited and the footpath would have been ultra vires to 
the BTC’s use of the land as a railway bridge. 

7.1.16  It is also stated that there is a gate under the railway bridge which is 
sometimes locked and the claimed route is obstructed by a pig run and 
barbed wire.  

7.1.17 The recommendation is for the path to be deleted form the Draft Map. 

7.1.18 Inclusion or classification of paths. East Sussex County Council ref 
C/C/173-29 Ardingly 11 b-c, 26a, Balcombe 16, Horsted Keynes 13, 
Pyecombe 15, 24 crossing railway lines, by the British Transport 
Commission. 

7.1.19 There are a series of letters on file in relation to the deletion of footpath 
11c objections and subsequent hearings. The points to note from the 
correspondence are outlined below.  

7.1.20 Within this file is a document titled - EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE. The document appears to outline documents 
considered as evidence and it would be assumed this would be when 
East Sussex County Council considered objections to the deletion of the 
claimed route from the Draft Definitive Map as the document is 
concerned with “inclusion”. In addition, the reference given at the top of 
the documents “Cuckfield R.D 29” is provided on the top of 
correspondence throughout the file discussing the deletion of footpath 
11c from the Draft Definitive Map. 

7.1.21 The document indicates that the historic documents considered were the 
Railway Plans, the Tithe map and landowner depositions. 

7.1.22 21st June 1957- A letter to Cuckfield Rural District which explains the 
different circumstances between footpath 11c and footpath 26a which 
was not deleted but also crosses the railway line after the deletion of 11 
c was questioned by the district council.  It is explained that path 11c 
was deleted form the Draft Definitive Map and provisional map as they 
“were not satisfied there was sufficient evidence of use by the public as 
of right and without interruption. The County Council were in no way 
deterred by the Transport Commission’s Legal points.” “The only 
evidence which was given of the use of the path by the public was by the 
Brighton and Sussex Path Finders Rambling Clubs once a year since prior 
to 1939 and two to three times a year since the 1931 respectively but 
omitting the war years. According to the Parish Councils survey report 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



dated 17 February 1951 “the gate under the railway bridge was 
sometimes locked“ and the Rambling Clubs stated there had been barbed 
wire across the path south of the railway since 1953 and more recently 
also across the path to the north of the railway. It was agreed that there 
was no indication on the ground of the path south of the railway and the 
Parish Councils survey report of 1951 stated that it was difficult to 
follow.” 

7.1.23 Summary of County Council records 

7.1.24 From the various records above the following course of events in relation 
to path 11c occurred  

• Prior to the Draft Definitive Map there are records suggesting that 
the path was considered public. 

• The claimed route was added to the Draft Definitive Map dated 
1953 labelled path “11c”. 

• An objection is received by the BTC to the inclusion of path 11c on 
the Draft Definitive Map, though a copy of this objection has not 
been found.    

• In the Committee Minutes (C/11/5/105) from a meeting on the 
23/11/23 Committee determine that path 11c should be deleted 
from the map. 

• Objections are then received to the deletion of the path from the 
Draft Definitive Map. 

• A hearing is held on 15 February 1956 to hear the evidence relating 
to path 11c.  

• On 13 March 1956 East Sussex County Council Rights of Way Sub-
Committee determined to maintain the deletion of the path. The 
summary of evidence described above at para 7.1.20-22 indicates 
East Sussex County Council reviewed a series of historic documents 
when considering the inclusion of 11c on the Draft Definitive Map. 
The letter at para 7.1.23 explaining how the committee came to 
their decision indicates that the Council largely considered evidence 
of use and concluded at that time the evidence of use was not 
sufficient and it was apparent from the locked gate there was no 
intention to dedicate. 

• Following the decision to maintain the deletion in 1957, there are 
letters indicating Cuckfield Rural District Council and the Ardingly 
Parish Council question the decision made.  

• In the 1980’s and 1990’s there is correspondence indicating the 
Parish Council’s desire to reinstate the path.   

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



7.2 Draft and Provisional Definitive Map, West Sussex Records Office 
(Background Paper H) 

7.2.1 East Sussex County Council National Parks and Access to the Countryside 
Act 1949 Survey of rights of Way Draft Map for Cuckfield Rural District 
1953 – West Sussex Records Office Ref AM796/9/1. The claimed route is 
shown on the Draft Map.  

7.2.2 Cuckfield Rural District Provisional Map with Statement, 1956, West 
Sussex Records Office ref AM 796/9/2. The claimed route is no longer 
shown on the Draft Map. 

7.2.3 Cuckfield Rural District 1st Definitive Map and Statement, 1957, West 
Sussex Records Office ref AM 796/9/3.  The claimed route is not 
mentioned.  

7.2.4 Cuckfield Rural District Provisional Revised Map, circa 1960, West Sussex 
Records Office ref AM 796/9/5. The claimed route is not shown. 

7.2.5 Statement Annexed to the Draft Revised Map, West Sussex Records 
Office ref AM 796/9/9.  The date of review is given as 25 Jan 1971- 
related map is AM 796/9/8.  The claimed route is not shown. 

7.2.6 Cuckfield Rural District Draft Revised Map 1971, West Sussex Records 
Office ref AM 796/9/8. The claimed route is not shown as a footpath but 
is marked as “tk” on the base OS map. Key states ‘tk’= track. The OS 
sheets are provisional edition dated 1961-68. 

7.2.7 Cuckfield Rural District Statement for Definitive Revised Map 1960, West 
Sussex Records Office ref AM 796/9/6. Statement annexed to the 
Definitive revised map for CR District dated 1960. The claimed route is 
not recorded. 

7.2.8 Cuckfield Rural District Revised Definitive Map 1964, West Sussex 
Records Office ref AM 796/9/7. There are two parts to this map, second 
part labelled Folio II. Folio II is labelled 1964 and has handwritten 
annotations going up to 1996. The claimed route is not shown.  

7.2.9 Determinations regarding Draft Map, West Sussex Records Office ref AM 
796/9/10. The records office catalogue gives date of 1955. The claimed 
route is shown as a footpath to be deleted. 

7.2.10 Summary of Definitive Map evidence.  

7.2.11 The claimed route is shown on the Draft Definitive Map but is then 
deleted from the Provisional Map. Under the National Parks and Access to 
the Countryside Act 1949 Councils, as surveying authorities, were 
required to carry out a survey of their lands and prepare a Draft 
Definitive Map showing all rights of way in their area. Copies of the Draft 
Definitive Map were then made available for inspection and 
representations or objections to the draft statement could then be made. 
If an objection was made then the authority would determine if a 
modification should be made. The authority was required to serve notice 
and publish any decisions made following an objection or representation.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



7.2.12 The evidence demonstrates that under the National Parks and Access to 
the Countryside Act 1949, East Sussex County Council (with 
responsibility at the time), determined the claimed route should be 
deleted from the Draft Definitive Map and not be recorded as a public 
right of way. The County Council Records outlined in section 7.1 explain 
the reason for the deletion of the claimed route.  

7.3 Finance Act 1910  

7.3.1 National Archives Record, IR 124/1/44 and IR 124/1/61 and 
accompanying Field Book National Archives ref R58/40184 (see pg 12- 
18 of the applicants statement) 

7.3.2 The above two Finance Act maps cover Burstye Farm which is labelled as 
hereditament 36. The claimed route appears to be shown denoted by 
double dashed lines from Stone Barn Cottages to the railway line and 
continuing north of the railway. A route is also shown to the northeast 
following the line of today’s public footpath 17Ar and another route to 
the west following the line of today’s public footpath 25Ar. The routes are 
all shown denoted by double dashed lines. 

7.3.3 The field book describes hereditament 36 as Burstye Farm. It is stated 
that there is a “Bridleway and 2 footpaths claimed by the public”. A 
Deduction is made of £50 for Public Rights of Way or User on the second 
page under “Charges, Easements and Restrictions affecting market value 
of fee simple” it is noted as a “B.R and Path”. Further down this page by 
Restrictions it is noted “BR & Path” with £50 with a star and £25 noted 
next to it. 

7.3.4 The 1910 Act provided for the levying of tax on land from its valuation at 
30 April 1909 to its subsequent sale or transfer. Deductions were made 
for public rights of way.  Reference to a right of way usually occurs by 
reference to it in one of the documents under the valuation process and 
exclusion of the route from the assessable parcels of land shown on the 
map records. Public rights of way or public rights of way user were 
placed together under “public rights of way or user”. (Planning 
Inspectorates Consistency Guidelinesi).  

7.3.5 In this instance a clear deduction is made in the field book for Public 
Rights of Way or User and it has been noted that these are for a “BR and 
path”. It appears under the section “Charges, Easements and 
Restrictions affecting market value of fee simple” only one path is 
mentioned as receiving a deduction.  

7.3.6 The Bluebell Railway Objection states that “Public rights of way or user” 
incorporates the term public right of way user which included private 
rights of way. However, the Planning Inspectorate Consistency 
Guidelines state there is no evidence of this, and the two terms usually 
distinguished a public right of way to a non-linear public right such as 
recreation.  

7.3.7 The applicant contends that the claimed route is likely one of the paths 
referred to in field book. It is possible that this is the case as only 3 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



routes are shown crossing the hereditament and two paths appear to 
have been awarded a deduction, but, this is not certain as the 
accompanying map is not annotated.  

7.3.8 In conclusion, while Finance Act field books and maps can provide good 
evidence that a right of way existed, in this instance it is not clear where 
the paths are that the field book refers to. As a result, it is not possible 
to conclude the claimed route was one of the public rights of way for 
which a deduction was made. However, it also cannot be ruled out that it 
was one of the paths for which a deduction was awarded.  

7.4 Historic Mapping Evidence (Background paper I) 

7.4.1 Ordnance Survey Maps  

7.4.2 Ordnance Survey Map 1874 XXVI N.W, First Edition (page 4 of the 
applicant’s statement). The claimed route is shown denoted by double 
dashed lines. Public footpath 11Ar is also shown to the north. The railway 
has not been built yet. A double dashed line, which is not recorded as a 
footpath today, is shown on the map branching to the west of the 
claimed route just after a stream.  

7.4.3 Ordnance Survey Map 1898, Microfiche XXVI N.W. The claimed route is 
shown denoted by double dashed lines. The Railway line is also shown.  

7.4.4 Ordnance Survey Map 1899 2nd edition. The claimed route is shown in 
the same manner as the 1898 Ordnance Survey Map.  

7.4.5 Ordnance Survey Map 1910 edition. The claimed route is shown in the 
same manner as the 1898 Ordnance Survey Map 

7.4.6 Ordnance Survey Map 1912 edition. The claimed route is shown in the 
same manner as the 1898 Ordnance Survey Map 

7.4.7 6” Provisional ORDNANCE SURVEY map Published in 1950 but revision of 
1909 with editions in 1938. The claimed route is shown denoted by 
double dashed lines.  

7.4.8 Ordnance Survey 1956 TQ3427. The claimed route is denoted by double 
dashed lines and labelled as a track. 

7.4.9 Ordnance Survey Mapping Sussex Series 1 – 4 dating from 1863 – 1943. 
In series 1 to 3 the claimed route is shown by double dashed lines. 
Series 1 to 3 cover the dates 1843 to 1939. Series 4 does not cover the 
area we are looking at.  

7.4.10 Ordnance Survey Map  1:25,000, revised 1937-57 and published 1959. 
This map is taken from National Library of Scotland and used as the base 
map on the claimed route plan submitted by the applicant. The claimed 
route is denoted by a single dashed line running alongside a solid black 
line and marked as “FP”. Public footpath 11Ar is shown denoted in the 
same way to the north of the railway.  The Map Key provided on the 
website does not give an indication of the definition of FP. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



7.4.11 Ordnance Survey 1:10,560 published 1963. This map is also taken from 
the National Library of Scotland and shows the claimed route denoted by 
a single dashed line and marked by “tk” which the key states means 
track. Other routes that are footpaths today are also shown in the same 
manor, such as footpath 17Ar. 

7.4.12 Tithe Map 1841. A single dashed line follows the path of the claimed 
route. There is no mention of a path in the apportionments. Tithe maps 
are solely concerned with identifying titheable land and therefore were 
rarely concerned with recording or establishing a right of way. While the 
tithe map provides evidence of existence of a route it does not help 
ascertain the routes status.  

7.4.13 Summary of Mapping Evidence 

7.4.14 Ordnance Survey maps are not indicative of the rights of parties but are 
indicative of physical features on the ground, however, they can help 
provide evidential weight when considered alongside other evidence 
(Planning Inspectorate Consistency Guidelines). 

7.4.15 From 1883 the Ordnance Survey circular would have been in place that 
“all footpaths over which there are an undisputed public right of way 
should be shown”.  However, from 1888 onwards Ordnance Survey maps 
came with a disclaimer that the representation of a track or way on the 
map was not evidence of a public right of way.  

7.4.16 The claimed route is consistently shown from the earliest Ordnance 
Survey map in 1874 to the 1963 series.  

7.4.17  On the 1956 and 1963 version the claimed route is shown denoted as a 
track. Today’s public footpath 17Ar was also shown as a track in the 
1963 edition.  The 1959 OS map denotes the route as FP, footpath. 
While this map was published after the decision to delete the route from 
the Definitive Map it is perhaps suggestive that when the Ordnance 
Survey map was drawn up the route was established. Having said that, 
denotation of a route as “FP” does not necessarily mean the route was 
considered a public footpath as explained above.  

7.4.18 In conclusion, the Ordnance Survey Map evidence shows that there was 
a physical route on the ground, however, other evidence will need to be 
considered to determine whether the claimed route was public footpath 
or private. 

7.5 Inclosure Awards  

There were no relevant inclosure awards held at West Sussex or East 
Sussex  Records Office  

  

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



7.6 Lease 1894 between Lt.Col.Dudley Thomas Heatley Sampson of 
Buxshalls and Mathew Madge for Avens Farm (Document 8 and para 50-
53 of the Routewise Report)  

7.6.1 The pictures provided of the lease are difficult to read, however, from the 
description provided the lease is referring to land to the east and north 
of the claimed route and therefore does not mean that the landowner did 
not have access to land to the north of the railway along the claimed 
route but was simply reserving a right of access to the road to the west. 
Without a plan it is difficult to determine exactly where the route for the 
reserved rights was.  

7.7 Railway records  

7.7.1 Lewes and East Grinstead Railway. Session 1876-1877 John Wolfe Barry 
Engineer Map and Reference Book – East Sussex Records Office 
QDP/428/1 (see doc 4- 12 of the applicant’s statement) 

7.7.2 The claimed route is shown, denoted by double dashed lines, crossing 
the proposed railway within Parcel 45. It is possible the claimed route 
also crosses Parcel 44 but it is difficult to determine the parcel 
boundaries. 

7.7.3 The book of reference accompanying the railway plans describes parcel 
45 as “Field, Stream, occupation road and footpath” and Parcel 44 as 
“Field and footpath” both with the Owner stated to be “William Dixon 
Jollands”. 

7.7.4 It is difficult to determine which routes the reference book refers to, 
however, it is possible the claimed route could be one of the footpaths 
referred to in the parcel descriptions.  

7.7.5 If an entry in the book of reference is labelled under the ownership of the 
“Surveyor of Highways” this is persuasive evidence the route was public. 
Within the reference book accompanying the railway plans the entries in 
parcel 44 and 45 are labelled under the ownership of William Dixon 
Jollands, which points towards the routes being private.  

7.7.6 The applicant highlights that within the book of reference for these 
railway plans no parcel other than a road is marked as being owned by 
the “Surveyor of Highways”. Looking through the document, and as also 
pointed out by the Routewise Report, there is one entry being Parcel 34 
for an Occupation Road, bridleway and footpath in The Parish of East 
Grinstead stated as being owned by the Surveyor of Highway for the 
Parish of West Hoathly. The applicant contends this is a mistake as the 
parish of West Hoathly are stated as owners and the parcel is in East 
Grinstead. While this is possible it is also possible that it is not a mistake 
as East Grinstead borders West Hoathly. 

7.7.7 While it was normal practice for public ways to be marked as “Surveyor 
of Highways” each document needs to be considered alongside other 
evidence and with its purpose in mind. The Inclosure Act 1845 created a 
requirement for railways to retain public rights of way which crossed the 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



railway route, as a result, deposited plans can be a good indication of 
status of a route. Landowners, Highway Authorities and Parish Councils 
would all have scrutinised railway plans, however, recording rights of 
way was not their primary purpose.  Therefore, this evidence must still 
be considered alongside all other evidence presented in this report 
(Planning Inspectorate Consistency Guidelines). 

7.7.8 The Routewise Report states that the Bridge which passed under the 
railway measures at 12 feet and under the Railway Clauses Consolidation 
Act 1985 private roads were to be a width of 12 feet.  However, this does 
not mean that it did not have public rights of foot over it.  

7.7.9 In conclusion it is not possible to conclusively determine the status of the 
claimed route from the book of reference as it is not clear if it is one of 
the routes to which the book of reference refers. It is also not clear what 
the status of the routes were, public or private. While the routes are not 
marked as owned by the Surveyor of Highways, only one other entry, 
other than a road, is labelled as such.  

7.8 Section 31(6) Highways Act 1980 – landowner deposits  

7.8.1 A declaration under Section 31(6) Highways Act 1980 was submitted by 
the landowner, Mrs A Knowles, on 1 February 1993 and a statement on 
the 27 February 1999. The claimed route was not declared  

7.8.2 A further Statutory declaration dated 8 February 2005 was submitted by 
the landowner, again the claimed route was not a declared footpath. 

7.8.3 A Statement and declaration under Section 31(6) HA 1980 was 
submitted on 8 February 2019, the claimed route was not declared as a 
footpath.  

7.8.4 Whilst this demonstrates no intention to dedicate from 1993, this does 
not prevent the claim for footpath being made based on historic 
evidence. The evidence considered in this report predates the landowner 
deposits.  

8. Consideration of claim 

8.1 In determining this application, it is necessary to decide: 

8.1.1 Whether the evidence provided by the applicant, together with all other 
relevant evidence available, shows that on the balance of probability a 
footpath subsists between points A and B, or in the alternative that a 
footpath between points A and B is reasonably alleged to subsist, which 
is the lower test.  This lower test requires that it is reasonable to allege a 
right of way subsists.  

The burden of proving this falls to the applicant. 

8.1.2 Matters relating to suitability and condition of a way and possible 
nuisance or need are irrelevant and cannot be taken into account when 
reaching a decision. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



8.2 Archive Evidence  

8.3  The County Council Records of Parish Council minutes indicate that the 
claimed route was considered a public footpath in the early 1900’s.  

8.4 In 1956 East Sussex County Council held a hearing in which they heard 
evidence regarding the deletion of the path from the Draft Definitive 
Map. Records held by East Sussex and West Sussex County Council give 
an indication of what was considered at the time. It appears the decision 
not to include the claimed route was largely based on a lack of user 
evidence and the landowner’s intention not to dedicate the route.  

8.5 This application is concerned with archive evidence only and therefore 
evidence of use is not considered when determining this claim. 

8.6 In determining this application, slightly less weight should be given to 
records already considered by East Sussex County Council when 
determining whether to delete the claimed route from the Draft Definitive 
Map in 1956.  However, as we do not have minutes for the hearing on 11 
February 1956 or a report by East Sussex County Council at the time, it 
is not possible to be certain precisely which evidence was considered at 
the time. Furthermore, the historic evidence must be considered as a 
whole, including evidence considered in 1956 as well as any additional 
historic evidence presented in this report.  

8.7 Historic documents that were considered when it was determined to 
delete the claimed route from the Draft Definitive Map considered in this 
report appear to include the Railway Plans and Tithe Map (see para 
7.1.21).  

8.8 The claimed route has been shown consistently overtime, however, the 
status of the route, either public or private is in dispute.  

8.9 The claimed route was clearly used as an occupation road which is 
confirmed in the Conveyance dated 1883. However, this does not mean 
the route could not also have had public rights on foot. The route is 
shown throughout time on the Ordnance Survey Maps and the 1959 
Ordnance Survey Map marks the route as FP, however, Ordnance survey 
maps cannot be relied on for status of a right of way. The Finance Act 
1910 shows the claimed route, but it is not clearly marked as a public 
footpath, although it is possible the field books do refer to it as such. The 
Railway records are inconclusive as we cannot clearly determine if the 
claimed route is one of the routes described in the book of reference, it is 
also unclear if rights of way (other than roads) were indicated as being 
public by being labelled as under the ownership of the Surveyor of 
Highways. 

8.10 Taking the evidence as a whole, nearly all of the records considered; 
Railway Plans, Finance Act Map and Field Book and Historic Maps show 
the claimed route confirming its existence.   

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



8.11 While the archive evidence does not clearly label the claimed route as 
public it cannot be ruled out and there is no conclusive evidence to 
demonstrate that the route was not a public footpath.  

8.12 The County Council Records indicate that the claimed route was 
considered a public footpath by the Parish Council in the early to mid-
1900’s and the continued interest after its deletion from the Draft 
Definitive Map to reinstate, suggests the route was remembered by 
members of the public. Although East Sussex County Council determined 
the evidence was not sufficient in 1956 it appears that decision rested on 
evidence of use at that point in time.    

8.13 There is a conflict of evidence between that provided by the applicant 
and the evidence submitted by the landowner in objection.  It is usual in 
such cases to use the lower test, that the right of way has been 
reasonably alleged to subsist.   

8.13.1 The matter for determination is whether the evidence provided by the 
applicant, together with all other relevant evidence available, shows that 
on the balance of probability a footpath subsists between points A and B, 
or in the alternative that a footpath between points A and B is reasonably 
alleged to subsist, which is the lower test.  This lower test requires that it 
is reasonable to allege a right of way subsists. 

8.14 Considering the evidence provided by the applicant, together with all 
other relevant evidence available, it is not considered that the balance of 
probability test is met but that a footpath between points A and B can be 
reasonably alleged to subsist, which is the lower test.  Therefore, an 
order to add a footpath from the southern end of public footpath 11Ar to 
footpath 25Ar near Stone Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly should 
be made. 

9. Recommendation 

That an order to add a footpath from the southern end of public footpath 
11Ar to footpath 25Ar near Stone Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly 
should be made. 

10. Consultation, engagement and advice 

10.1 See paragraph 3 above which details responses to statutory 
consultations as well as responses to additional consultations that were 
carried out as part of the investigation process. 

11. Finance 

11.1 The County Council is under a duty to investigate Definitive Map 
Modification Order applications and all costs associated with the 
consideration of the application by officers’ falls within existing budgets. 

11.2 Cost implications arise: 

i. In the event of an order being made and objected to, the matter 
may fall to be considered at a public local inquiry or a public 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



hearing. All fees incurred after the submission of the order are 
borne by the County Council. This includes but is not limited to 
fees relating to the venue hire, advertising costs etc. 

ii. Should an order be made and confirmed; if any works are 
necessary to ensure that the path is open for public use. 

iii. Should the decision of the committee be challenged by way of 
Judicial Review. 

11.3 The recommendation made by the case officer and the decision of the 
Planning and Rights of Way Committee is based on the application of 
strict legal tests and the above costs cannot be a consideration in the 
determination of the application. 

12. Risk implications and mitigations 

12.1 The decision is one that must be taken on strict legal tests: 

i. If the application is not determined in accordance with the tests 
this could lead to a successful legal challenge by way of Judicial 
Review. 

ii. In the event that an order is made the landowner could appeal to 
the Secretary of State and the matter be considered by way of 
written representations, hearing or public inquiry. 

iii. In the event that an order is not made and the applicant disagrees 
with the decision then they have a right of appeal pursuant to 
Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to the 
Secretary of State. The Secretary of State may direct the County 
Council to make an order, which if objected to could be considered 
by way of written representations, hearing or public inquiry. 

12.2 In reaching a recommendation the case officer has considered the 
evidence in accordance with the law. 

13. Policy alignment and compliance 

Equality and Human Rights Assessment 

13.1 The County Council has a duty to have regard to the impact of any 
proposal on those people with characteristics protected by the Equality 
Act. Officers considered the information provided by the applicant, 
together with the responses from consultees and other parties, and 
determined that the proposal would have no material impact on 
individuals or identifiable groups with protected characteristics. 

Human Rights Act 1998 Implications 

13.2 It is unlawful for a public authority to act in any way, which is 
incompatible with a convention right. The rights, which should be 
considered, are rights pursuant to Article 8, Article 1 and Protocol 1 and 
Article 6. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



13.3 Article 8 protects the right to respect for private and family life including 
an individual’s home. This is a qualified right and there may be 
interference by a public authority if that authority does so with an 
intention of protecting the right and freedom of others. 

13.4 Article 1, Protocol 1 deals with the protection of property. Again, this is a 
qualified right and interference of it may take place where it is in the 
public’s interest to do so subject to the conditions provided by law. Any 
interference, however, must be proportionate. The main body of the 
report identifies the extent to which there is an interference with these 
rights and whether the interference is proportionate. 

13.5 The Committee should be aware of Article 6, the focus of which (for the 
purpose of this Committee) is the determination of an individual’s civil 
rights, an individual is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a 
reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal. Article 6 has 
been subject to a great deal of case law. It has been decided that for 
rights of way matters, the decision-making process as a whole, which 
includes the right of review by the High Court, complied with Article 6. 

Crime and Disorder 

13.6 The Definitive Map Modification Order process involves the application of 
legal tests, which mean that it is not possible to give weight to any effect 
on crime and disorder. 

Climate Change 

13.7 Enhancement of the public rights of way network is a positive 
contribution towards the County Council’s stated ambition of being 
carbon neutral by 2030, however such considerations are not matters 
that can be taken into account when considering applications against the 
strict legal tests. 

Public Health 

13.8 The addition of public rights of way through the Definitive Map 
Modification Order process could assist in enhancing the general health 
and wellbeing of the communities served by the Council. However, such 
considerations are not matters that can be taken into account when 
considering applications against the strict legal tests. 

Tony Kershaw 
Director of Law and Assurance 

Case Officer: Charlotte Nash, Trainee Legal Executive, Legal Services 0330 222 
6934 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Site Plan 01821 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



• Appendix 2 – Location Plan 01821A  

• Appendix 3- Location Plan Parish 01821B 

Background papers 

A. Application and plan 

B. Consultation responses 

C. Evidence in support, Applicants Statement  

D. Evidence in opposition, the Bluebell Railway Objection  

E. Evidence in opposition, Mr and Mrs Collins 

F. Evidence in opposition, The Routewise Report  

G. Archive evidence, County Council Records  

H. Archive evidence, Draft and Provisional Definitive Map 

I. Archive Evidence, Historic Mapping Evidence  

 

** Please contact the case officer to request a copy of the background 
papers 

 
 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Parish: Ardingly Agenda Item No:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell, or 

otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form.
Third-party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

West Sussex County Council Licence No: 100023447.

Date: 23 May 2023

Plan: 01821 1:5000

Addition of a Footpath from FP 11Ar to FP 25Ar
DMMO Application 8/21 - Site Plan

OS Sheet: TQ 34 27

Grid Ref: TQ3467127854

Photocopy
liable to

distortion

Matt Davey
Assistant Director

Highways, Transport
and Planning

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1 - S
ite P

lan



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Parish: Ardingly Agenda Item No:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell, or 

otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form.
Third-party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

West Sussex County Council Licence No: 100023447.

Date: 23 May 2023

Plan: 01821A 1:15000

Addition of a Footpath from FP 11Ar to FP 25Ar
DMMO Application 8/21 - Location Plan

OS Sheet: TQ 34 27

Grid Ref: TQ3468827851

Photocopy
liable to

distortion

Matt Davey
Assistant Director

Highways, Transport
and Planning

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 2 - Location P
lan



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Parish: Ardingly Agenda Item No:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell, or 

otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form.
Third-party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

West Sussex County Council Licence No: 100023447.

Date: 23 May 2023

Plan: 01821B 1:425000

Addition of a Footpath from FP 11Ar to FP 25Ar
DMMO Application 8/21 - Location Plan

OS Sheet:

Grid Ref:

Photocopy
liable to

distortion

Matt Davey
Assistant Director

Highways, Transport
and Planning

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 3 - Location P
lan: P

arish



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Key decision: Not applicable 
Unrestricted 

 

Planning and Rights of Way Committee  

25 April 2023 

Public Rights of Way Annual Progress Report 2022 

Report by Nicholas Scott (Principal Rights of Way Officer) 

Electoral division/s: Countywide 
 

Summary 

This report contains an annual progress report for the Public Rights of Way team 
within Countryside Services setting out our achievements on the network and 
customer service data during the 2022 calendar year. 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 With over 4000km of Public Rights of Way (PROW) to maintain across West 
Sussex the PROW team provide an important service to the residents and 
visitors of West Sussex. Our responsibilities include maintaining the path 
surface, negotiating improvements with landowners and working closely with 
key stakeholders to help support key corporate objectives. The service is 
supported by considerable input from volunteers who both assist with path 
inspections and practical tasks across the network. 

2. Customer Service 

2.1 A major element of our service is handling a high volume of enquiries from 
path users and other parties with 805 calls answered through the contact 
centre in relation to PROW.  

2.2 Between reports from the public and other stakeholders this has generated 
3,570 issues that were logged onto our database in 2021 (4,002 in 2021) 
with 3,724 issues resolved in the same period (3,824 in 2021). 

3. Routine Maintenance 

3.1 We continued to deliver our 15-month inspection and maintenance 
programme as much as possible, but inspections were paused for a month in 
February to allow our routine maintenance contractor to catch up following 
COVID related delays. During 2021 our routine maintenance contractor, 
County Tree Surgeons, amongst other works, delivered: 

  

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



• 1,154 signs; 

• 144 bridges; 

• 8 boardwalks; 

• 41 flights of steps; 

• 48km of surface vegetation clearance. 

3.2 2022 saw 105 other items of work ranging from handrails, small surfacing 
and culverts works along with some stile, gate and tree clearance where we 
have been unable to get hold of the landowner. 

3.3 This is a good opportunity to thank our routine maintenance contractor, 
County Tree Surgeons, for the flexibility and quick response times to ad hoc 
work required to keep the network safe and accessible. 

3.4 For information the new routine maintenance contract begins on 1 May 2023 
and I can confirm that County Tree Surgeons were successful in regaining 
this and will continue to deliver this work. 

3.5 We also undertook our annual summer clearance programme, separately 
from the routine maintenance programme, where 339km of surface 
vegetation was cleared.  

4 Volunteers 

4.1 Our inspections continue to be greatly assisted by Parish Path Inspector 
Volunteers working with our local Access Rangers to inspect every path at 
least every 15 months, on a parish-by-parish basis. Our Volunteer Rangers 
also get their hands dirty with a variety of practical works to supplement our 
maintenance programme and add extra value across the county.  During 
2022 our Volunteer Rangers delivered: 

• 8200m of vegetation clearance. 

• 28 tonnes of Type 1 used. 

• 6 new plank crossings, four repaired. 

• 10 bridges new 5m and over and 2 refurbished. 

• 51m of boardwalk installed. 

• 70 steps installed. 

• 36 fallen trees cleared. 

• 24 fingerposts installed or repaired. 

This totalled 3546 hours given by the volunteers over 60 days. 

4.2 In addition, we continue to rely on the active volunteer group in Horsted 
Keynes working in partnership with WSCC.  They carry out much PRoW 
maintenance and improvement work within the parish, including sign 

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



installation and repair, vegetation clearance and replacing stiles with kissing 
gates.  

4.3 We are again grateful for the continued support of many individuals who give 
their time free of charge to the PROW surface and the team who support the 
work of the volunteers from office staff through to the Access Rangers and 
Volunteer Coordinator. 

5 Gates for Stiles 

5.1 The PROW team continue to improve access across the rights of way network 
by offering gates to replace existing stiles across the network, due to the 
restrictive nature of stiles for some users. 

5.2 During 2022 we provided 23 gates to landowners with the agreement that 
they install the structure and maintain it in the future as they would with 
other structures that exists on their land. This number is down 47% from 
2021 but we are reliant on landowner agreement to this change and we will 
continue to try to bring about access improvements by this means 
throughout 2023. 

6 Capital Works Programme 

6.1 As part of the annual Capital programme during 2022 we replaced/repaired 8 
bridges and any associated works including bank stabilisation and drainage 
improvements. This programme also included design of 5 further bridges  
scheduled for replacement during the 2023/24 Capital Programme. 

6.2 Further to this, a capital surface programme was undertaken totalling over 
3.41km of improvements on the network including drainage and surface 
improvement works on the Downs Link in Itchingfield surface improvements 
in Ashington, Bolney, Hassocks, Slinfold and Southwater.  

6.3 Some works have been carried over to the 2023/24 Capital Programme due 
to it not being possible to be completed for a number of reasons and these 
include bridge replacement works in Billingshurst and completion of repair 
works to Old Shoreham Toll Bridge in Shoreham.  

6.4 We also undertook improvements to FP13c in Hassocks this year in 
partnership with the local Parish Council who assisted by contributing funds 
toward the project. 

7 England Coast Path 

7.1 Progress on the England Coast Path (ECP) is on-going. There is a small 
section of the ECP from the County’s eastern border to the River Adur which 
has been open since 19/05/22. Works are largely complete on the next 
stretch of the ECP from Shoreham to West Wittering. All the signage and 
minor improvement works are done with one large surfacing project 
remaining to be complete in Sidlesham. Once this is complete, this stretch of 
the ECP can be opened by Defra (forecast for end of summer 2023). The 
remaining ECP from West Wittering to the Hampshire border still resides with 
the Secretary of State for approval, however the WSCC ECP Project Officer is 
collaborating with the relevant stakeholders in this area to represent the 
interests of the ECP and coastal access whilst we await approval of the route. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



The Project Officer is also undertaking planning and research work to prepare 
WSCC for the management of the ECP once it is all opened. 

8 Planning 

8.1 During 2022 WSCC’s PRoW team received 350 requests for PROW comments 
(including any re-consultations). These applications range from small scale 
planning applications for extensions or new garages where PRoW are nearby 
to large scale developments involving multiple residential or commercial units 
immediately impacting the PRoW network. 

9 Complaints and Compliments 

9.1 The County Council’s Customer Relations team did record 3 formal customer 
complaints (4 in 2021) in 2022 and 2 compliments (down from 6 in 2021).  
Of the complaints, 1 was upheld and related to a complaint about the nature 
of a response from a member of the team regarding an issue reported. 

9.2 The team also received a further 8 compliments that weren’t logged with the 
Customer Relations team during 2022. 

Matt Davey 
Assistant Director, Highways Transport and Planning 

Contact Officer: Nick Scott, Principal Rights of Way Officer (03302 22614) 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee
	4 Definitive Map Modification Order
	Planning and Rights of Way Committee
	6 June 2023
	DMMO 8/21 – Definitive Map Modification Order to add to the Definitive Map and Statement for Cuckfield Rural a footpath from the southern end of footpath 11Ar to footpath 25ar near Stone Barn Cottages, in the Parish of Ardingly
	Report by Director of Law and Assurance
	Electoral division: Worth Forest		      Local Member: Bruce Forbes
	Summary
	Recommendation
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Land ownership
	3.	Background
	4.	Consultations
	5.	Evidence submitted in support of the application
	6.	Evidence submitted against the application
	6.1	Objection from Mrs AG. Knowles and Bluebell Railway Plc 16 Feb 2023 (referred to throughout the report as “the Bluebell Railway Objection”) (Background Paper D)
	7.	Archive evidence considered by the County Council
	7.1.1	The images of the conveyance provided are difficult to read, however, the plan does appear to show the claimed route where it passes under the railway bridge marked “C”.
	7.1.2	The Bluebell Railway Objection and the Routewise Report state that the above-mentioned title deed states the bridge under the proposed railway, where the claimed route terminates, is recorded as being constructed for the benefit of the owner “an occupation bridge under the railway near point C on the plan”. This conveyance is also referred to in East Sussex County Council’s minutes (see para 7.1.14 below).
	7.1.3	The parcel of land conveyed to the railway company is described as “Field, Stream, Occupation road and footpath”. This is consistent with the description in the railway plans book of reference
	7.1.4	However, the conveyance was dealing with private rights of property. A transfer of a private right does not mean there can be no public right (Planning Inspectorate Consistency Guidelines).
	7.1.5	Therefore, while these records indicate the claimed route was used as an occupation road it does not mean the occupation road could not also have had rights on foot as a public footpath. There is mention of a footpath in the conveyance as the parcel of land is described as “Field stream occupation road and footpath” but the location of the footpath is not made clear, therefore the conveyance does not provide conclusive evidence either way.
	8.	Consideration of claim
	8.1	In determining this application, it is necessary to decide:
	8.1.1	Whether the evidence provided by the applicant, together with all other relevant evidence available, shows that on the balance of probability a footpath subsists between points A and B, or in the alternative that a footpath between points A and B is reasonably alleged to subsist, which is the lower test.  This lower test requires that it is reasonable to allege a right of way subsists.
	The burden of proving this falls to the applicant.
	8.1.2	Matters relating to suitability and condition of a way and possible nuisance or need are irrelevant and cannot be taken into account when reaching a decision.
	8.2	Archive Evidence
	8.3	The County Council Records of Parish Council minutes indicate that the claimed route was considered a public footpath in the early 1900’s.
	8.4	In 1956 East Sussex County Council held a hearing in which they heard evidence regarding the deletion of the path from the Draft Definitive Map. Records held by East Sussex and West Sussex County Council give an indication of what was considered at the time. It appears the decision not to include the claimed route was largely based on a lack of user evidence and the landowner’s intention not to dedicate the route.
	8.5	This application is concerned with archive evidence only and therefore evidence of use is not considered when determining this claim.
	8.6	In determining this application, slightly less weight should be given to records already considered by East Sussex County Council when determining whether to delete the claimed route from the Draft Definitive Map in 1956.  However, as we do not have minutes for the hearing on 11 February 1956 or a report by East Sussex County Council at the time, it is not possible to be certain precisely which evidence was considered at the time. Furthermore, the historic evidence must be considered as a whole, including evidence considered in 1956 as well as any additional historic evidence presented in this report.
	8.7	Historic documents that were considered when it was determined to delete the claimed route from the Draft Definitive Map considered in this report appear to include the Railway Plans and Tithe Map (see para 7.1.21).
	8.8	The claimed route has been shown consistently overtime, however, the status of the route, either public or private is in dispute.
	8.9	The claimed route was clearly used as an occupation road which is confirmed in the Conveyance dated 1883. However, this does not mean the route could not also have had public rights on foot. The route is shown throughout time on the Ordnance Survey Maps and the 1959 Ordnance Survey Map marks the route as FP, however, Ordnance survey maps cannot be relied on for status of a right of way. The Finance Act 1910 shows the claimed route, but it is not clearly marked as a public footpath, although it is possible the field books do refer to it as such. The Railway records are inconclusive as we cannot clearly determine if the claimed route is one of the routes described in the book of reference, it is also unclear if rights of way (other than roads) were indicated as being public by being labelled as under the ownership of the Surveyor of Highways.
	8.10	Taking the evidence as a whole, nearly all of the records considered; Railway Plans, Finance Act Map and Field Book and Historic Maps show the claimed route confirming its existence.
	8.11	While the archive evidence does not clearly label the claimed route as public it cannot be ruled out and there is no conclusive evidence to demonstrate that the route was not a public footpath.
	8.12	The County Council Records indicate that the claimed route was considered a public footpath by the Parish Council in the early to mid-1900’s and the continued interest after its deletion from the Draft Definitive Map to reinstate, suggests the route was remembered by members of the public. Although East Sussex County Council determined the evidence was not sufficient in 1956 it appears that decision rested on evidence of use at that point in time.
	8.13	There is a conflict of evidence between that provided by the applicant and the evidence submitted by the landowner in objection.  It is usual in such cases to use the lower test, that the right of way has been reasonably alleged to subsist.
	8.13.1	The matter for determination is whether the evidence provided by the applicant, together with all other relevant evidence available, shows that on the balance of probability a footpath subsists between points A and B, or in the alternative that a footpath between points A and B is reasonably alleged to subsist, which is the lower test.  This lower test requires that it is reasonable to allege a right of way subsists.
	8.14	Considering the evidence provided by the applicant, together with all other relevant evidence available, it is not considered that the balance of probability test is met but that a footpath between points A and B can be reasonably alleged to subsist, which is the lower test.  Therefore, an order to add a footpath from the southern end of public footpath 11Ar to footpath 25Ar near Stone Barn Cottages in the Parish of Ardingly should be made.
	9.	Recommendation
	10.	Consultation, engagement and advice
	11.	Finance
	12.	Risk implications and mitigations
	13.	Policy alignment and compliance
	Equality and Human Rights Assessment
	Human Rights Act 1998 Implications
	Crime and Disorder
	Climate Change
	Public Health
	Appendices
	Background papers


	Plng_RoW_06.06.23_DMMO_8_21_App1_Site
	Plng_RoW_06.06.23_DMMO_8_21_App2_Location
	Plng_RoW_06.06.23_DMMO_8_21_App3_Parish_Location

	5 Public Rights of Way Annual Progress Report 2022
	Planning and Rights of Way Committee
	25 April 2023
	Public Rights of Way Annual Progress Report 2022
	Summary
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Customer Service
	3.	Routine Maintenance
	4	Volunteers
	5	Gates for Stiles
	6	Capital Works Programme
	7	England Coast Path
	8	Planning
	9	Complaints and Compliments




